RECEIVED

Dec 18 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

The Honorable Bentley D. Price

Appellate Court Case No. 2022-000300
Unpublished Opinion No. 2024-UP-372 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed October 30, 2024)
Circuit Court Case No. 2021-CP-07-01241 and
Circuit Court Case No. 2021-CP-07-01231

Historic Beaufort Foundation, Petitioner,
v.
City of Beaufort, City of Beaufort Historic District Review Board,
and The Beaufort Inn, LLC, Respondents.

AND

West Street Farms, LLC and Mix Farms, LLC, Petitioners,
v.
City of Beaufort, City of Beaufort Historic District Review Board,

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the ruling of the Circuit Court and, specifically, in concluding that the appeal was untimely because Petitioners did not appeal the conceptual or preliminary approvals when that holding is contrary to this state's long-established precedent that only final judgments are subject to appeal?

INTRODUCTION

The Supreme Court should exercise its discretion to grant review because this appeal involves novel legal questions. Rule 242(b)(1), SCACR, provides that a case involving novel legal questions is a type of case that will be considered for the discretionary review sought in this Petition. *See* S.C. App. Ct. R. 242(b)(1); *see also* *Peagler v. USAA Ins. Co.*, 368 S.C. 153, 157, 628 S.E.2d 475, 477 (2006) (“In answering a certified question raising a novel question of law, this Court is free to decide the question based on its assessment of which answer and reasoning would best comport with the law and public policies of the state as well as the Court's sense of law, justice, and right.”).

The Court of Appeal’s opinion affirming the decision of the Circuit Court overlooked or misapprehended the legal issues below. Specifically, the Court erred in concluding that the appeal was untimely. The Appellant was not required to appeal conceptual or preliminary HDRB approvals under local practice in the City of Beaufort and a long-established precedent that holds that only final judgments are subject to appeal. Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals declined to consider the merits of the appeal and instead dismissed the appeal based upon the novel determination that preliminary or conceptual approvals by an architectural review board established under the state enabling law are final decisions that must be immediately appealed. Neither Respondents nor the decision below cite any statutory provision or case law in support of the conclusion that an appeal of decisions reached during the conceptual and preliminary review processes is untimely if made after the final decision of the HDRB is rendered under S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-900. Likewise, the cases citing that statute do not provide any clarity as those decisions do not address the issue of whether an HRB decision granting conceptual or preliminary approval must be immediately appealed pursuant to § 6-29-900. To the extent that the prior order

of this Court deemed this argument abandoned for failure to cite controlling authority, the Appellants submit that this is a novel question on which there is no precedent.

Additionally, the Supreme Court should grant certiorari to review the decision of the Court of Appeals to give much-needed guidance to local governments charged with interpreting and administering the South Carolina Local Government Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act. The prior decision in this matter has produced uncertainty in the very jurisdiction from which this appeal originated. During its most recent meeting on December 11, 2024, the Town of Beaufort Historic Review Board considered whether the Beaufort Code should be amended to change the review and approval process. (See Memorandum to the HDRB from the Beaufort Community Development Director dated December 4, 2024).

As detailed below, the Parking Garage did not receive final approval until June 9, 2021, and this appeal was timely filed within thirty (30) days of that decision. Moreover, any final approval issued for the Hotel before June 9, 2021, does not bar this appeal because the Hotel design approved at that meeting was materially different from any design approved before that date, rendering it, essentially, a new application. Neither the Parking Garage nor the Hotel had the requisite valid approvals from the City of Beaufort for the HRB to consider these applications. Beyond that, the merits of each of these structures fail to meet even the minimal threshold of requirements for approval in Sections 4 and 9 of The Beaufort Code and the Beaufort Preservation Manual. The Board failed, as a matter of law, to fulfill its responsibility under The Beaufort Code in approving these applications. For these reasons, and because the matters herein present novel questions of law, Petitioners respectfully request this Honorable Court issue a writ of certiorari to review the issues presented by this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a consolidated appeal by two different sets of Petitioners of the HRB's approval of two projects in the Town of Beaufort's National Historic Landmark District for the construction of a 77-unit hotel building, including a rooftop bar and restaurant ("Hotel"); and for the construction of a parking garage ("Parking Garage"). The current ordinance in the City of Beaufort that governs development and building approvals is The Beaufort Code, adopted effective June 27, 2017, and updated on July 10, 2018. (R. p. 791 – p. 777). The Beaufort Code repealed and replaced the Unified Development Ordinance ("UDO"), which governed development and building before that date. (Id.).

The Parking Garage

The City of Beaufort traditionally required three levels of review and approval to achieve a Certificate of Appropriateness for the Garage: conceptual, preliminary, and final. On August 17, 2016, the Board granted conceptual approval with conditions for the Parking Garage. (R. p. 047). On July 12, 2017, the Board approved a motion for the Parking Garage to undergo significant revision and return to the Board with a simpler design. (Id., at p. 661). By July 2017, The Beaufort Code had already been approved and was in effect. On September 20, 2017, the Board gave preliminary approval for the Parking Garage plan with various conditions. (Id., at p. 559). The then-current drawings were approved as submitted, and the Applicant was tasked with refining the design details to receive final approval. (Id.).

Under either the UDO or The Beaufort Code, preliminary approval for the Parking Garage expired on March 20, 2019, 18 months after the September 20, 2017, preliminary approval date. David Prichard, on behalf of the City, in two letters dated June 21, 2019, and July 1, 2020, erroneously issued an extension of a "Certificate of Appropriateness" for the Parking Garage that

had never been issued and did not exist. (R. pp. 676-677). The Parking Garage never received a “Certificate of Appropriateness” from the Board, a requirement under the UDO and The Beaufort Code. Under either ordinance, a Certificate of Appropriateness could only be issued after final approval, which the Parking Garage never achieved. Also, David Prichard referenced The Beaufort Code section 9.1.4 as the governing code in those two letters. Mr. Prichard did not reference the UDO. (Id.).

The Hotel

Like the Garage, the Hotel was subject to several levels of review before final approval. The Hotel was initially presented for review and approval to the HRB on September 14, 2016. At that time, HRB staff advised the LLC to revise its plans, including the elevation of the Hotel, based on staff and board comments and return to the HRB for another conceptual review. The LLC submitted its project to the City in 2017. The Beaufort Code was adopted on June 27, 2017, and replaced the UDO as of that date. Lauren Kelly, representing the City, initially presented the Hotel project in a July 12, 2017 HRB meeting, approximately two weeks after the Beaufort Code was adopted. The approved official July 12, 2017 minutes quote Lauren Kelly saying, “this project (the Hotel) is being evaluated under the new Beaufort Code,” confirming that the Hotel was considered under the Beaufort Code and not the UDO. (R. p. 661). (The July 12, 2017, Meeting Minutes included in the Record on Appeal to the Circuit Court at p. 200 are incomplete. Counsel for Respondents has consented to Appellants’ request to supplement the record under SCACR 212(b) to include in the record a complete copy of the July 12, 2017 Meeting Minutes).

During this July 12, 2017 meeting, the HRB granted the Hotel preliminary approval. (Id. at p. 666). According to the Beaufort Code, such preliminary approval expired on January 12, 2019, i.e., 18 months after the HRB issued such preliminary approval. The Applicant’s next request

for approval for the Hotel, however, was almost 27 months later, on October 9, 2019, for a “Certificate of Appropriateness.” Notably, the “Certificate of Appropriateness,” dated October 9, 2019, and signed by John Dickerson, the then chairman of the Board, specifically referenced the Beaufort Code and its Section 9.4.1 as the governing authority. It did not reference the UDO at all. (R. p. 047).

On June 9, 2021, the LLC appeared before the Board seeking two approvals: (a) Agenda Item No. IV(C) 812 Port Republic Street: Change after Certification for the Hotel, and (b) Agenda Item No. IV(D) 918 Craven Street, New Construction for the Parking Garage. (R. p. 160 – p. 245). The Board approved these plans on June 9, 2021. (Id. at pp. 244-245 – pp. 307-308).

After the Board’s June 9, 2021 final decision, Appellants each timely appealed the Board’s final decision to the Circuit Court under S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-900 and The Beaufort Code Section 9.10. A hearing was held on January 6, 2022 at the Beaufort County Court of Common Pleas. On January 20, 2022, the Honorable Bentley D. Price issued an order denying the appeals of HBF and West Street/Mix Farms. (R. p. 649). The Appellants jointly filed a motion to reconsider on January 28, 2022, which was denied on February 11, 2022. HBF and West Street/Mix Farms each filed a notice of appeal of the Circuit Court decisions to the Court of Appeals on March 11, 2022. The Court of Appeals consolidated the appeals, and the parties were informed of that by a letter from the Deputy Clerk of Court dated March 24, 2022.

ARGUMENT

1. THE APPEAL WAS TIMELY

In their brief, Respondents focus heavily on the argument that the present appeal is not timely. (Resp. Br. pp. 13-17). However, they fail to address the substance of the HRB decision that is the center of this appeal. Respondents do not present any support for their assertion that many of the issues raised by Appellants are time-barred because each conceptual, preliminary, and final approval by the HRB for both projects was “indisputably” a decision which had to be appealed within thirty (30) days of each decision. No statutory provision or case law is cited in support of the conclusion that an appeal of the final decision of the HDRB is untimely. Respondents’ argument is also at odds with well-established law and policy in this state that requires that only final decisions and orders can be appealed.

The Order Denying the Appeal provides a detailed account of the multi-layered process of obtaining the required approvals for projects like the Hotel and the Garage. That process took several years but the Appellants have no input or control over the timing and pace of when the applicant Respondent requests approvals or when the Board decides them. In a broad sense, each project's review and approval process involved conceptual, preliminary, and final stages.

The statute itself does not offer any guidance on whether those decisions before final approval are subject to immediate appeal. The Beaufort Code does not provide for conceptual or preliminary approvals: only a final approval resulting in issuance of a certificate of appropriateness. Specifically, the statute authorizing this appeal provides:

A person who may have a substantial interest in any decision of the board of architectural review or any officer, or agent of the appropriate governing authority may appeal from any decision of the board to the circuit court in and for the county by filing with the clerk of court a petition in writing setting forth plainly, fully, and distinctly why the decision is contrary to law. The appeal must be filed within thirty days after the affected party receives actual notice of the decision of the board of architectural review.

S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-900.

Likewise, the cases citing that statute do not provide any clarity as those decisions do not address the issue of whether a HRB decision granting conceptual or preliminary approval is subject to immediate appeal. To the extent that the prior order of this Court deemed this argument as abandoned for failure to cite controlling authority, the Appellants believe that this is a novel question on which there is no precedent.

The language of the statute indicates “any decision” of the board may be appealed to the Circuit Court and does not specify whether that appeal must be from preliminary, conceptual, or final approvals. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-900. It is a fair reading of the statute's plain language that if any decision may be appealed, then preliminary, conceptual, or final approvals may all be appealed without regard to whether appeals are taken of the preceding approval. If the Respondents’ (and the Court of Appeal’s) reasoning is adopted, however, all decisions, including a conceptual decision, which can be far from final and bearing little resemblance to the final decision, **must** be appealed if the interested party is to be allowed to appeal any later decision of the board.

The reasoning adopted by the Court of Appeals and highlighted by the Respondents in their brief contradicts the well-established legal principles of finality and ripeness. Generally, only final judgments are appealable. *Culbertson v. Clemens*, 322 S.C. 20, 23, 471 S.E.2d 163, 164 (1996). Any judgment or decree, leaving some further act to be done by the court before the rights of the parties are determined, is interlocutory and not final. *Mid-State Distribs., Inc. v. Century Importers, Inc.*, 310 S.C. 330, 336, 426 S.E.2d 777, 780 (1993). Additionally, an issue is not ripe if it is “contingent, hypothetical, or abstract.” *Jowers v. S.C. Dept of Health and Env'tl. Control*,

423 S.C. 343, 815 S.E.2d 446 (2018), citing *Colleton Cty. Taxpayers Ass'n v. Sch. Dist. of Colleton Cty.*, 371 S.C. 224, 242, 638 S.E.2d 685, 694 (2006).

Respondents argue the appeal is untimely because the Appellants did not appeal the HRB's conceptual or preliminary design approval for the Hotel. (Resp. Br. p. 14). However, the developer was not required to restart the approval process when the height, scale, and mass were fundamentally changed by the addition of the fourth story to the Hotel, making the original submission moot, and creating in effect a new submission. In fact, the HRB failed to reconsider conceptual approval when 303 Associates submitted for final approval a building with four stories, plus solar panels, rather than three stories that had been approved at conceptual and preliminary stages. The addition of the new floor alters the entire proportion of the building. Appellants did not have the opportunity to appeal the conceptual and preliminary approval of the building that was given final approval because the building finally approved with the fourth-story rooftop bar was not given any conceptual or preliminary review by HRB. Therefore, this appeal is timely.

By their very nature, the decisions of the HRB involve value judgments that change and evolve as a project moves through the complex design and approval process. Evaluating architecture piecemeal, as contemplated by the three application stages, is complex. The height, mass, and scale of buildings cannot truly be evaluated without looking at other design elements such as fenestration, solids and voids of the proposed structure in total. The very names "conceptual" and "preliminary" demonstrate that any approvals in those categories are prime examples of decisions that are not final, and an appeal from such a decision would likely be met (rightfully so) with a claim that it is not ripe because in both instances the design and details of the structures are likely to change. A clear example of that is evident in the record before the Court. On July 25, 2017, a letter was issued to the Respondent's architect, Goff D'Antonio Associates,

stating that the Board granted preliminary approval of the Hotel with conditions at the July 12, 2017 meeting. (R. 574-575). However, by the time that Respondent received final approval of the Hotel on June 9, 2021, not only was the design different but a different architecture firm prepared it. (R. 590-611).

The only point in the process in which the issues change from abstract architectural and design concepts to concrete decisions that can be meaningfully reviewed in court is at the final approval stage. Moreover, requiring interested parties like the Appellants to appeal every conceptual and preliminary decision at every stage of the process to ensure timeliness would exponentially increase the demands on municipal and judicial resources and create much more uncertainty. Therefore, the Respondents' assertion that the appeal is untimely is unfounded.

The Court below erred in finding that the Appellants' challenge to decisions made during the conceptual and preliminary approvals were not timely and the Appellants respectfully request that this Court issue a writ of certiorari to review the issues presented by this appeal. Further, the Appellants respectfully ask this Court to decide the significant substantive issues discussed fully in the briefs previously submitted, summarized in the following sections.

2. FINAL APPROVAL SHOULD HAVE BEEN DENIED BECAUSE ANY PRIOR APPROVALS OF THE HOTEL EXPIRED BEFORE THE HEARING

At the outset of the hearing on June 9, 2021, on the Hotel application, the Chair announced that the application would be considered under the Unified Development Ordinance ("UDO"). The Beaufort Code was adopted on June 27, 2017, and replaced the UDO as of that date. The Hotel Project was originally presented in a September 2016 Historic District Review Board meeting before The Beaufort Code was adopted. The official July 12, 2017 minutes indicate that the Hotel "is being evaluated under the new Beaufort Code," and by extension, not the UDO. On July 25, 2017, Lauren Kelly for the City issued a letter to the applicant Goff D'Antonio Associates for the

LLC, stating that the Board granted preliminary approval with conditions. These minutes also state that "the approval expires 12 months from the date of the letter (July 25, 2017) unless the applicant has an active submittal pending review by staff and/or HRB. Under the UDO, specifically item 3.1.M.3c, conceptual and preliminary approvals expired after 18 months and cannot be renewed beyond 18 months. Under table 9.1.4 of The Beaufort Code any approval under that ordinance expired 24 months thereafter. However, the next approval for the Hotel was not issued until nearly 27 months later, on October 9, 2019, when the owner was issued a "Certificate of Appropriateness." Therefore, the Hotel's preliminary approval expired under the terms of the ordinance prior to the alleged approval of the Hotel's "Certificate of Appropriateness."

Since the Hotel had no valid preliminary approval under either the UDO or The Beaufort Code on June 9, 2021, it was legal error for the Board to consider the application for final approval as a necessary legal prerequisite had not been satisfied. The Court of Appeals' decision affirming that final approval should be reversed and the Board's decision should be vacated.

3. ANY APPROVAL OF THE GARAGE EXPIRED BEFORE JUNE 9, 2021

The approval of the Parking Garage suffers from a similar legal infirmity. On August 17, 2016, the Board granted conceptual approval with conditions for the Parking Garage. Assuming, without conceding, that the Garage was conceptually approved under the UDO, the Parking Garage received preliminary approval from the City as evidenced by a letter written by Lauren Kelley, former project development planner for the City of Beaufort, dated October 9, 2017, which referenced a September 20, 2017 Board meeting. A copy of that letter was included in the application for the June 9, 2021 meeting at page 195.

The preliminary approval for the Parking Garage was granted after the UDO was repealed and replaced by The Beaufort Code. Under the terms of the UDO and the Beaufort Code, that

approval expired on March 20, 2019, i.e., 18 months after the issuing of the preliminary approval, and could not be renewed. Consequently, the Parking Garage application was not eligible for consideration of final approval at the June 9, 2021 hearing because the preliminary approval expired over two years before the Board heard the final approval application.

4. THE BOARD NEVER ISSUED A CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS FOR THE GARAGE

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