THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jan 15 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge
Case No.: 2021-CP-07-01241 and
Case No. 2021-CP-04-1231

Appellate Case No. 2022-000300
Unpublished Opinion No. 24-UP-372, Filed October 30, 2024

Historic Beaufort FoundationPetitioner,

v.

City of Beaufort, City of Beaufort Historic District Review Board,
and The Beaufort Inn, LLCRespondents,

AND

West Street Farms, LLC and Mix Farms, LLCPetitioners,

v.

City of Beaufort, City of Beaufort Historic District Review Board,
and The Beaufort Inn, LLC.....Respondents.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

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

Further, Petitioner ignores B.C. § 1.4.4.A: “Other Approved Development Permits and Approvals.” Section 1.4.4.A provides:

Any other development that has received approval of a development permit or approval of a portion of a development—including any required Traffic Impact Analysis and/or Archaeology Survey—before the effective date of this chapter or any amendments thereof **may** be carried out in accordance with the terms and conditions of the development permit or approval and the procedures and standards in effect at the time of the approval, provided the permit or approval does not expire and otherwise remains valid. If significant changes are made to the development, associated studies and surveys required as part of the development process shall be redone. If the development permit or approval expires, is revoked (e.g., for failure to comply with time limits or terms and conditions), or otherwise becomes invalid, any subsequent development of the site shall be subject to the procedures and standards of this Code.

(Emphasis added.) In statutory construction, the use of the word “may” means the action is permissive. *State v. Wilson*, 274 S.C. 352, 356, 264 S.E.2d 414, 416 (1980)(“The use of the word ‘may’ signifies permission and generally means that the action spoken of is optional or discretionary.”); *Cricket Store 17, LLC v. City of Columbia Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 428 S.C. 270, 276, 834 S.E.2d 209, 212 (Ct. App. 2019).

B.C. § 1.4.4.A clearly gives the HRB the *discretion* to apply the UDO or the Code with respect to timelines it applied to the Parking Garage Project. Thus, the HRB staff was free to apply the Beaufort Code timelines per this section of the Code, and was not required to follow the UDO. There was no error in the HRB allowing the extensions to stand and the Parking Project to move to final approval.

(R. 034-037) Order, pp. 14-17. In footnote 8, the Circuit Court also noted:

To the extent that B.C. § 1.4.4.A may be interpreted to conflict with § 1.4.2 (B), the interpretation of the HRB giving precedence to § 1.4.4.A must be given great weight. “We give great deference to the decisions of those charged with interpreting and applying local zoning ordinances.” *Gurganious v. City of Beaufort*, 317 S.C. 481, 487, 454 S.E.2d 912, 916 (Ct. App. 1995). “The Board[’s] ... construction of its own ordinance, the enforcement of which it is charged with, should be given some consideration and not overruled without cogent reason therefor.” *Boehm v. Town of Sullivan’s Island Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 423 S.C. 169, 184, 813 S.E.2d 874, 881 (Ct. App. 2018), quoting *Purdy v. Moise*, 223 S.C. 298, 304-05, 75 S.E.2d 605, 608 (1953).

(R. 036-037) Order, p. 16, n. 8.

Petitioners quibble with the characterization of extensions by City staff, arguing that staff issued extensions for COAs that did not exist. Additionally, Petitioners also argue City staff erred in their interpretation of the applicable ordinance binding the City and HRB. However, staff comments and characterizations do not bind the City or HRB. Only the HRB itself, not staff, has the authority to decide if an approval is proper. When proceeding with each approval, the HRB inherently determined that the extensions (regardless of the term used for “extension”) were proper, and these decisions are supported by evidence in the Record. Both the City and Beaufort Inn understood that the extensions were more generally for the Projects and part of the ongoing cooperation between Beaufort Inn and the City in furtherance of Beaufort Inn’s vested rights. Both the Court of Appeals and Circuit Court agreed, and thus Petitioners’ procedural arguments must be dismissed.

III. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY AFFIRMED THE CIRCUIT COURT’S DECISION REJECTING PETITIONERS’ CLAIM THAT THE PROJECTS REQUIRED PRIOR ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS APPROVAL BEFORE THE HRB ACTED ON THE PROJECTS.

Petitioners claim that the HRB could not act on either the Parking Garage Project or the Hotel Project because they argue that both require a Special Exception issued by the City’s Zoning Board of Appeals (“ZBOA”) for a Large Footprint Building pursuant to the Beaufort Code. The Circuit

Court expressly and properly rejected this contention in its Order. Specifically, the Circuit Court stated:

Petitioner, citing no authority, claims that the HRB was precluded from hearing the Hotel Project matter and the Parking Garage Project matter because it alleges that neither project should be permitted under the Beaufort Code because both buildings are allegedly “Large Footprint Buildings” as defined at B.C. § 4.510 (B)(5). Large Footprint Buildings under this section of the Beaufort Code are required to have a Special Exception from the City of Beaufort’s Zoning Board of Appeals (“ZBOA”) to go forward. Thus, Petitioner reasons, the two projects do not qualify under applicable zoning and so should not be considered by the HRB. The Court rejects this argument.

First, as noted, the Parking Project and the Hotel Project were initiated under the UDO, not the Beaufort Code. As held by the HRB, and admitted by City Defendants, these two projects were to be assessed under the UDO, not the Beaufort Code. The Beaufort Code also provides that these projects are grandfathered under the UDO as they were initiated when the UDO was in effect. B.C. § 1.4.2.A. Critically, the UDO did not have a section like the Large Footprint Building in the Beaufort Code. Consequently, no Special Exception by the ZBOA was required for either the Hotel Project or the Parking Garage Project. Since the Hotel Project and the Parking Garage Project are grandfathered or otherwise vested under the UDO, the newer Beaufort Code Large Footprint Building requirement does not apply. *Boehm v. Town of Sullivan’s Island Board of Zoning Appeal, supra*.

Second, there is no provision in Beaufort Code requiring ZBOA approval of any project prior to HRB approval. Indeed, B.C. § 9.2.5 allows an applicant to apply for approvals concurrently at its own risk. Further, B.C. § 9.1.4 outlining “Permit/Process Type Table” has no indication of sequential ordering of applications as between the ZBOA and the HRB. There is no support in the Beaufort Code for Petitioner’s position that one must come before the other.

Third, the HRB has completely different functions from ZBOA, and so there is no overlap or logical sequential process for one before the other. The ZBOA per B.C. § 10.3.1.C.1 of the Code: “shall hear and decide appeals where it is alleged there is error in an order, requirement, decision or determination made by an Administrative Official in the enforcement of the Code.” The ZBOA thus has no authority over HRB matters as the HRB is not an “Administrative Official” as defined in B.C. § 13.1. As noted by HRB member at the June 9, 2021 meeting, the HRB does not determine Special Exceptions, so any issue for a Special Exception was not an impediment to the HRB.

Therefore, there is no validity to the arguments by Petitioner that the HRB was without jurisdiction over these projects or otherwise should have abstained from deciding anything because of its allegation that they needed Special Exceptions from the ZBOA.

(R. 037-039) Order, pp. 17-19. (Footnote omitted.)

Once again, the Petitioners provide no analysis in their Petition explaining why the Circuit Court's Order is incorrect. Therefore, as recognized by the Court of Appeals, Petitioners have abandoned any argument contesting these findings. *Jinks v. Richland Cnty.*, 355 S.C. 341, 585 S.E.2d 281 (2003). Regardless, as correctly noted by the Circuit Court, there is no validity to the arguments by Petitioners regarding Special Exceptions before the HRB, and the HRB properly disregarded such arguments.

IV. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY AFFIRMED THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DECISION THAT EVIDENCE BEFORE THE HRB SUPPORTED THE HRB'S DECISIONS.

Petitioners argue in their Sixth Argument that the factual record did not support the HRB's decisions. Petitioners' burden for such a claim is substantial. On appeal, "the findings of fact by the [HRB] shall be treated in the same manner as a finding of fact by a jury, and the court may not take additional evidence." *Helicopter Sols., Inc. v. Hinde*, 414 S.C. 1, 8–9, 776 S.E.2d 753, 757 (Ct. App. 2015) (alteration in original) (quoting *Wyndham Enterprises, LLC v. City of N. Augusta*, 401 S.C. 144, 147, 735 S.E.2d 659, 661 (Ct. App. 2012)). "In reviewing the questions presented by the appeal, the court shall determine only whether the decision of the [HRB] is correct as a matter of law." *Helicopter Solutions, Inc.*, 414 S.C. at 9 (quoting *Wyndham Enterprises, LLC*, 401 S.C. at 147–48). "An abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court's decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law." *Newton v. Zoning Bd. of Appeals for Beaufort Cnty.*, 396 S.C. 112, 116, 719 S.E.2d 282, 284 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting *Cnty. of Richland v. Simpkins*, 348 S.C. 664, 668, 560 S.E.2d 902, 904 (Ct. App. 2002), holding modified by *Poynter Invs., Inc. v. Century Builders of Piedmont, Inc.*, 387 S.C. 583, 694 S.E.2d 15 (2010)). The party challenging a governmental body's decision bears the burden of proving the decision is arbitrary." *Pressley v. Lancaster Cnty.*, 343 S.C. 696, 704, 542 S.E.2d 366, 370 (Ct. App. 2001).

As noted by the Court of Appeals and the Circuit Court, the Petitioners argue only about the weight that the HRB should have given to certain guidance documents in its interpretations. This is not a question of a lack of evidence to support the HRB; it is a disagreement by Petitioners of the determinations of the HRB. The failure of the Petitioners to point out the actual lack of evidence for the HRB decisions is their failure of proof of this claim. Also see, fn. 8, *supra*.

V. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY AFFIRMED THE CIRCUIT COURT’S DECISION THAT BEAUFORT INN’S VESTED RIGHTS DEFEATED PETITIONERS’ PROCEDURAL ARGUMENTS.

A. The Vested Rights Act Did Not Preempt Common Law Vesting of Rights.

Both Beaufort Inn and the City agree that Beaufort Inn has vested rights in the Parking Garage Project and the Hotel Project as stated *supra*. The vested rights argument eviscerates the Petitioners’ claims of procedural defects in the HRB process as once Beaufort Inn was vested in the approvals given by the City, such vested rights could not be taken away by the City unilaterally. The Circuit Court concurred, and the Court of Appeals affirmed.

However, Petitioners in their Seventh Argument claim that Beaufort Inn could not have rights vested in the Projects unless Beaufort Inn and the City had a special agreement pursuant to Vested Rights Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1510, *et. seq.* (“VRA”). It is undisputed that there was no such agreement pursuant to the VRA.

The Circuit Court expressly rejected this argument:

Vested rights under zoning ordinances are undergirded by the same constitutional footing which precludes retroactive application of zoning ordinances.” *Friarsgate, Inc. v. Town of Irmo*, 290 S.C. 266, 269, 349 S.E.2d 891, 893 (Ct. App. 1986). However, Petitioner argues that Beaufort Inn may not claim a vested right, even though the City Defendants concede it has vested rights in the application of the UDO to the project, because Beaufort Inn has failed to comply with the Vested Rights Act, S.C. Code § 6-29-1510, *et. seq.* (“VRA”), and therefore it obtained no vested rights. This is incorrect for several reasons. First, the VRA nowhere states that it is the exclusive method of establishing vested rights by a property owner in South Carolina. It is well settled in South Carolina that a statutory scheme creating a remedy of some type is not deemed to create an exclusive remedy unless the

statute expressly so provides. *See e.g., Tilley v. Pacesetter Corp.*, 333 S.C. 33, 40–41, 508 S.E.2d 16, 20 (1998)(creation of specific remedy by statute did not mean it was the sole one at law); *Pinckney v. Pettijohn Builders, Inc.*, 289 S.C. 405, 407, 346 S.E.2d 533, 534 (Ct. App. 1986)(Collection of Rent by Distraint Statute not exclusive remedy); and *Wimberly v. Barr*, 359 S.C. 414, 419, 597 S.E.2d 853, 856 (Ct. App. 2004)(timber cutting statute not the exclusive remedy). Conversely, where the legislature intends a statute to create an exclusive remedy, it has expressly said so. *See e.g., Dickert v. Metro. Life Ins. Co.*, 311 S.C. 218, 220, 428 S.E.2d 700, 701 (1993)(workers compensation is exclusive remedy); *Wimberly v. Barr*, 597 S.E.2d at 857 (S. C. Tort Claims Act is exclusive remedy.) North Carolina, with its similar vested rights act, has recognized that its vested rights act is not meant to be the sole method of establishing vested rights, and that the traditional framework of substantial reliance on municipal actions is still an avenue of relief for property owners. *Simpson v. City of Charlotte*, 115 N.C. App. 51, 56, 443 S.E.2d 772, 776 (1994). The same reasoning applies here; the South Carolina Supreme Court has recognized “the purpose of the Act was to protect, preserve, and create vested rights in development permits.” *Grays Hill Baptist Church v. Beaufort Cty.*, 431 S.C. 630, 640, 850 S.E.2d 29, 34 (2020). Limiting the ability of a property owner to acquire vested rights to those under a statutory scheme is anathema to the purpose for the VRA. The VRA merely provides another vehicle by which a property owner and developer can achieve some certainly in the development process—but it is not the only method.

(R. 032) Order, p. 12, fn. 7

The Circuit Court clearly explained why it rejected Petitioners’ argument that Beaufort Inn was required to follow the VRA. However, Petitioners fail to challenge the Circuit Court’s reasoning.¹⁰ Petitioners have not made any argument why the Circuit Court’s Order was incorrect in its holding. Petitioners make only a half-page, conclusory argument that the VRA applies, but they do not even state *why* the VRA should be the exclusive method for assertion of vested rights. Therefore, that issue must be determined to be abandoned on appeal. *Jinks*, 355 S.C. 341.

Thus, as apparently concluded by the Court of Appeals, Petitioners have abandoned any argument contesting the Court’s holding and should not be allowed to proceed further on this issue.

¹⁰ Nor did Petitioners contest the Circuit Court’s logic in the Order in any filing before the Circuit Court, including their Motions to Reconsider. (R 811--812). It is axiomatic that a litigant is required to raise an issue fairly to the trial court, thereby giving the trial court an opportunity to rule on the issue. *State v. Brannon*, 388 S.C. 498, 502, 697 S.E.2d 593, 595–96 (2010).

Given that Beaufort Inn's approval rights in the Projects are vested as the law of the case, Petitioners' procedural arguments are moot, and the Petitioners' arguments are unavailing.

B. The Law of the Case is that Beaufort Inn had Vested Rights.

Other than the VRA argument, Petitioners nowhere else contest the Circuit Court's determination that Beaufort Inn's rights in the two Projects are vested under South Carolina law. Thus, the Circuit Court's holdings that Beaufort Inn was vested in the Projects moots any argument by Petitioners that procedural steps were not properly followed. Specifically, the Petitioners have not challenged the Circuit Court's holdings in several places that Beaufort Inn had vested rights:

- “The Court agrees with the position of the City Defendants and Beaufort Inn in this Appeal that the Hotel Project and the Parking Garage Project are on these facts vested with respect to the approvals given.” (R. 031) Order, page 11.
- “Thus, even if it wanted to, the HRB cannot revisit and revoke its prior approvals given to Beaufort Inn, as Beaufort Inn has vested rights in the application of the UDO and those approvals.” (R. 032) Order, page 12.
- “Further, as noted, Beaufort Inn has constitutionally protected vested rights in the two projects; the change in the ordinance cannot in any way impair those vested rights.” (R. 035) Order, page 15.
- “Since the Hotel Project and the Parking Garage Project are grandfathered or otherwise vested under the UDO, the newer Beaufort Code Large Footprint Building requirement does not apply.” (R. 038) Order, page 18.

As found by the Court of Appeals, the failure of Petitioners to challenge these findings of the Circuit Court binds them to these findings as the law of the case. The failure of the Petitioners to challenge these holdings means the vested rights in the approvals of the Projects are the law of the case, which effectively disposes of any argument Petitioners make on procedural deficiencies in the approval process for the Projects.

CONCLUSION

Petitioners provide no convincing arguments why their Writ of Certiorari should be granted, and so it must be denied.